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Highlights
Over  
$4.17 Billion  
in Assets
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206  new plan members in 2021

1.63 ratio of 
active members 
to pensioners

$47,429 
2021 Average Annual Gross Pension

180 recipients of benefits  
aged 85 and older
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15.6%

9.9%

$454.8 Million  
in Investment Income
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Average age of  
new pensioner is  
55.2 years

Investment  
Return  
in 2021

Investment 
Return over 
10 Year Period

ACTIVE MEMBERSHIP  
BY EMPLOYER

City of Calgary
City of Camrose
City of Edmonton
City of Lacombe
City of Lethbridge
City of Medicine Hat
Town of Taber

48.71%
43.76%

0.63%

0.46%3.69%
2.43%

0.33%
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Message from the Chair
As incoming Chair of the Special Forces Pension  
Plan (SFPP) Corporation Board, it is my pleasure  
to present our 2021 annual report.

In 2021, the fund achieved a return of 15.6 per cent. This is especially 
good news considering recent governance changes, the continuing 
COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical strife, and ongoing stock market 
volatility. Enhanced risk management and strategic planning were  
key contributors to our success and will form the foundation for our 
work in the year to come. 

Safeguarding SFPP for your peace of mind today and your prosperity 
in the future is at the core of all we do at SFPP. In the year ahead, 
we will continue to look for ways to enhance our member-focused 
organizational structure to grow ever more responsive to your needs 
and priorities. We will also further enhance our risk management 
approach and internal governance structures. Our forthcoming three-
year strategic plan will outline specific actions we plan to undertake 
to carry out to sustain and build on our success.

I want to extend my sincere thanks to our outgoing Board Directors 
for their service and insight. I also want to acknowledge Denis 
Jubinville, the outgoing Corporate Board Chair, who has set a  
high bar for myself and all members of our incoming board. I look 
forward to the opportunity to represent SFPP and contribute to its 
ongoing success.

Mike Baker 
Chair, Corporate Board
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Message from the CEO
As SFPP Corporation CEO I am delighted to  
release our new annual report following another 
challenging but tremendously successful year.  
In 2021, SFPP had outstanding investment returns 
and continued to provide secure retirement income 
to our valued pensioners. 

One of the greatest lessons learned through the COVID-19 pandemic 
is that we must never become complacent. From cyber threats 
to market changes, we know our ability to anticipate and nimbly 
respond to sudden disruptions in our environment is more important 
to our success than ever. To this end, we have invested significant 
effort in the development of business continuity, disaster recovery, 
and risk management structures.

We also know that, as a plan that strives to be member-focused, 
we must never lose sight of your priorities and needs. Through 
member and pensioner surveys in 2021, we identified opportunities 
to enhance communications and better support your understanding 
and involvement in SFPP. While two-thirds of survey respondents 
reported they felt well informed about their pension plan, we are 
committed to finding ways to strengthen this number even further. 
We look forward to working closely with Plan members and sponsors 
in the coming year to guide our continued efforts to support you in 
achieving your goals.  

As we look ahead to 2022, SFPP’s focus will continue to be on 
delivering the highest standard of service while finding new ways of 
adding value to our stakeholders. It is a privilege to serve those who 
serve our communities and to lead a team driven to advocate for our 
members’ needs.

On behalf of everyone at SFPP, we thank our members for your 
service and wish you all a safe and healthy year.

Liz Doughty 
Chief Executive Officer



Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 20218

SFPP Sponsor Board Members SFPP Corporation 
Management Team 

Elizabeth Doughty  
Chief Executive Officer  
Email: Liz.Doughty@sfpp.ca 

Tennille Willis  
Chief Financial Officer 
Email: Tennille.Willis@sfpp.ca 

Andrew Tambone 
Chief Investment Officer 
Email: Andrew.Tambone@sfpp.ca 

Trevor Davis 
Executive Director, Pension 
Policy and Communications  
Email: Trevor.Davis@sfpp.ca

Ellen Nygaard (Chair)  
Municipalities of Lethbridge, 
Medicine Hat, Lacombe, 
Camrose and Taber 

John Burdyny (Vice-Chair)  
Calgary Police Association 

Leslie Shikaze  
City of Calgary 

Tony Simioni  
Edmonton Police Association 

Howard Burns   
Police Associations of 
Lethbridge, Medicine Hat, 
Lacombe, Camrose and Taber 

Ron Anderson 
City of Edmonton

SFPP Corporate Board Directors 

Mike Baker (Chair)  
Calgary Police Association 

Jason Elliott (Vice-Chair) 
Municipalities of Lethbridge, 
Medicine Hat, Lacombe, 
Camrose and Taber 

Monica Storer  
City of Calgary 

David Paton  
Edmonton Police Association 

Leon Borbandy  
Police Associations of 
Lethbridge, Medicine Hat, 
Lacombe, Camrose and Taber 

Denis Jubinville   
City of Edmonton 
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Who We Are
The primary role of SFPP Corporation is to ensure Plan 
members receive their pension. We also provide related 
services, such as training and communication about SFPP 
(“the Plan”), which help support members in navigating life 
changes that affect their pension contributions or benefits. 

To carry out our role, SFPP Corporation sets investment 
policy and interfaces with external service providers  
such as Alberta Pensions Services Corporation and  
AIMCo. We monitor benefits and undertake financial 
reporting. Most importantly, we work closely with Plan 
members and sponsors to understand their needs and 
deliver on expectations.

Sponsor: Plan sponsors are 
the funders of municipal police 
services. This includes the municipal 
governments for each city or town 
participating in SFPP. 

Members: Plan members are the 
people who pay into the Plan and 
receive benefits during retirement. 
Plan members are represented 
by police associations on SFPP 
Corporation boards. 

Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 2021 9
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Financial Position
A critical responsibility of SFPP Corporation is to ensure there are sufficient 
assets to fund liabilities (benefits) payable to current and future retirees. 

One way we measure this sufficiency is through an actuarial valuation, 
which takes into consideration various factors such as investment returns, 
demographics, inflation, salary, mortality and retirement age. Actuarial analysis 
is used to determine contribution rates and cost-of-living adjustments. 

As of December 31, 2021, the funding status was determined to be 
approximately 100.5%, meaning there is currently a surplus of assets  
compared to liabilities. 

Looking ahead, SFPP Corporation is preparing the next actuarial  
valuation as of December 31, 2021 – one year earlier than required.  
This will take advantage of the fact that returns were high in 2021,  
enabling us to stabilize contribution rates for the next three years,  
providing predictability for employees and employers. 
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The market value of assets is the fair market value of the Plan in the current year as stated in the 
Financial Statements. Here is what the numbers mean:

+ The Smoothing Adjustment is an accepted actuarial practice of spreading investment returns and 
losses over a longer term to even out fluctuations in the market. This practice generates an Actuarial 
Value of Assets that can be higher or lower than the Market Value of Assets.

+ The Actuarial Funding Target is how much money the Plan needs to pay pension benefits. In simple 
terms, it is the total liability.

+ Funding excess or funding shortage (unfunded liability) is the difference in the Actuarial Value of 
Assets and the Actuarial Funding Target. In other words, it is the assets minus the liabilities.

+ Funded Ratio is the percentage of the Actuarial Value of Assets over the Actuarial Liabilities.

The Employment Pension Plans Act requires that plan funding be based on the actuarial valuation.

Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 2021 11

THREE YEAR FUNDING POSITION OF THE PLAN
Plan Assets

($millions) As at December 31, 2019 As at December 31, 2020 As at December 31, 2021

Market Value  
of Assets $3,454.3 $3,592.7 $4,166.1

Actuarial Valuation Funding Extrapolation Funding Extrapolation

($millions) As at December 31, 2019 As at December 31, 2020 As at December 31, 2021

Smoothing 
Adjustment ($122.8) ($72.6) ($250.3)

Actuarial Value  
of Assets $3,331.5 $3,520.1 $3,915.8

Actuarial  
Funding Target $3,580.5 $3,719.9 $3,896.7

Funding Excess or 
(Unfunded Liability) ($249.0) ($199.8 ) $19.1

Funding Status 93.0% 94.6% 100.5%
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SFPP calculates the liabilities and assets separately for pre-1992 and post-1991 
service because the Government of Alberta shares in the funding of pre-1992 
unfunded liability. 

SFPP’s post-1991 funded position has improved from 81.1% in 2011 to 106.4% in 
2021, according to respective valuation calculations.

SFPP’s pre-1992 funded position has improved from 66.7% in 2011 to 76.7% as of 
December 31, 2021, as extrapolated from the 2019 valuation. 

(Chart remains unchanged except add a second note that highlights that contribution 
rates have not changed since January 1, 2011)

2021 SFPP CONTRIBUTION RATES
Members Employers Total

Current Service Contributions 12.29% 13.39% 25.68%

Post-1991 Unfunded Liabilities 0.41% 0.41% 1.82%

Pre-1992 Unfunded Liabilities* 0.75% 0.75% 1.50%

Total Contributions** 13.45% 14.55% 28.00%
 
* The Government of Alberta pays an additional 1.25% towards the pre-1992 unfunded liability. 
** Contribution rates have not changed since January 1, 2011.
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Only 95 active members 
remain in the Plan with 
pre-1992 service

Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 2021 13
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Our Plan Members 

There are three types of members in SFPP: 

+ Active members are those police officers currently 
employed by a participating employer and are 
contributing to the Plan.

+ Pensioners are those who have begun receiving an 
SFPP pension, including surviving spouses.

+ Deferred members are those who have terminated 
employment, have benefits remaining in SFPP,  
but have not yet withdrawn their entitlement or  
begun receiving a monthly pension.

In 2021, 98 members retired, 
206 new members joined the 
Plan, and 78 members resigned 
as municipal police officers.  
Of those who resigned,  
28 transferred their pension  
out of SFPP. 

SFPP members are as diverse as the people they serve. Their commitment makes our communities better, 
safer places to live and work. We strive to ensure our members receive secure, protected pensions that are 
fitting of their years of dedicated service and sacrifice.
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MEMBERSHIP TRENDS – Five Year Comparison

The ratio of active members to retired members has decreased over the past five years. In 2021, SFPP 
had 1.63 active members for every one retired member, compared to 1.71 active members for every one 
retired member in 2017. With people living longer, pensions are being paid for greater periods of time.  
The declining ratio of active members to retired members means that at some point in the future more 
money will be paid as benefits than is received as contributions. 

ACTIVE MEMBERSHIP DEMOGRAPHICS
Active Members 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Average Age 39.9 40.3 40.6 41.4 41.4

Average Years of Service 11.7 12.2 12.4 12.8 13.1

Active Member to Pension Ratio 1.71 1.66 1.67 1.66 1.63

 Active     Pensioners      Deferred      Total

7,285 7,375 7,506
7,670

7,538

211

2017

2,607

4,467

211

2019

2,725

4,570

214

4,569

2020

2,755

231

2021

2,832

4,607

220

2018

2,679

4,476
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NEW PENSIONER TRENDS

PENSIONER TRENDS

New Pensioners 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Number of New Pensioners 92 84 63 52 98

Average Age of New Pensioners 55.4 54.9 55.6 54.8 55.2

All Pensioners 2019 2020 2021

Average Annualized Yearly Pension Paid Out (Gross)* $43,763 $49,207 $47,429

Current Pension Options in Payment

Joint Life (pensioners with a spouse or pension partner) 90.2% 89.8% 89.6%

Single Life (pensioners without a spouse or pension partner) 9.8% 10.2% 10.5%

SFPP DEMOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN  
2021 Age Distribution

 Active Members    
 Retired Members and Survivors

<25 25-35 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75-84 85-94 95+ 
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ACTIVE MEMBERSHIP BY EMPLOYER

Municipality Count Percentage

City of Calgary 2,244 48.71%

City of Camrose 29 0.63%

City of Edmonton 2,016 43.76%

City of Lacombe 21 0.46%

City of Lethbridge 170 3.69%

City of Medicine Hat 112 2.43%

Town of Taber 15 0.33%

Total: 4,607 100.00%

There are 12 SFPP members 
who have been with the Plan 
for more than 40 years and  
are still working

SFPP’s oldest pensioner 
is 99 years old and has 
been on pension payroll 
for 40 years

Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 2021 17
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2021 Accomplishments 
In 2021, the world at large and SFPP saw continued volatility resulting from 
the pandemic, geopolitical turmoil and financial markets. While managing 
and responding to those events, our focus did not waver from enhancing our 
investment management, monitoring and improving pension services, and 
executing risk initiatives that help protect the Plan. Some of the most important 
accomplishments from the past year are highlighted below. 

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)

In 2021, the Corporation further developed the 
existing ERM program for the Corporation and 
Plan. The Corporate team identifies, analyzes, 
tracks and develops action plans to manage and 
mitigate risk, both known and emerging. Potential 
risks include funding issues, governance, political 
changes, legal issues, plan demographics, fiduciary 
items and Plan administration and operation. 

Although it is impossible to predict every risk that 
SFPP might encounter, it is important to build 
capacity to withstand challenges that cannot 
be easily minimized, transferred or eliminated. 
Therefore, to continuously improve management 
strategies and resources for dealing with risk, we 
conduct semi-annual risk workshops with all staff.

The work of ERM is never complete and SFPP’s 
risk management is guided by the Corporation’s 
intent that all actions be taken with the best 
interests of the members and retirees.

Investment Policy Review

In 2021, the Board performed its annual review of 
the Plan’s Statement of Investment Policies and 
Procedures (SIPP), which led to a series of updates. 
The SIPP lays out the Fund’s objectives and key 
policies such as asset mix, the measurement 
of performance and the expectations of the 
investment manager.

The 2021 SIPP review focused on developing a 
set of risk limits to communicate the Plan’s risk 
appetite, tolerance and capacity to the investment 
manager. These limits are driven by the Plan’s 
funding policy and coincided with AIMCo’s 
implementation of a new risk management 
system. These limits create parameters for AIMCo 
in terms of its investment strategies and help 
guide the Board in making incremental changes  
to policy elements such as asset mix.
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Other significant changes within the SIPP included:

+ The net value-added target has been lowered 
to 65 basis points from 100 basis points, better 
reflecting what AIMCo has historically been 
able to deliver over the long term. The new 
risk limits provide clearer direction to AIMCo 
regarding the amount of active risk the Board 
is willing to accept. Excessive risk-taking could 
harm the Plan in potentially difficult markets.

+ The SIPP now includes a responsible 
investment provision that acknowledges the 
importance of achieving the necessary returns 
to fund pension benefits earned under the Plan. 
It also states that it is important to take a broad 
view of risk and include Environmental, Social 
and Governance (ESG) considerations when 
making investment decisions.
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Plan Administration 

APS CEO Update

Alberta Pensions Services Corporation (APS) is proud to serve SFPP members, retirees and 
employers—we’re proud to serve those who bravely serve Albertans. 

APS provides benefit administration services in alignment with the SFPP Pension Services 
Agreement (PSA), but our partnership is deeper than that. We collaborate with SFPP Corporation 
to lay out the future of the member experience we offer. Further, we aim to find better ways  
to be a cost-effective pension benefits administrator that focuses on offering a high standard  
of service. 

We have thousands of direct contacts with SFPP members every year. Our services 
include contributions management and benefit payouts, pension benefit information and 
communication, and data management, analytics and reporting. We do these things and more 
because we care about the futures of SFPP members and retirees. 

We achieved significant service and operational successes in 2021 while implementing  
pension Plan-rule changes, aligning operations with Employment Pension Plans Act legislation, 
and upgrading our pension administration systems. In particular, improvements to online 
services and directing members to online self-service options have increased the adoption  
of these tools. 

In 2022, we remain focused on reliability, innovation, and our people and culture. This focus will 
improve the support and care we provide for SFPP members, retirees, and employers. We look 
forward to a new PSA aligning APS and SFPP Corporation and to collaborating on the future of 
pension benefit administration.

Darwin Bozek 
President and CEO  
Alberta Pensions Services Corporation
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PENSION SERVICE LEVELS
Pension Service 

Provided Service Level Target Average Elapsed 
Time

% that met 
Target

Pension Estimate Within 7 days if the request is within 6 
months of retirement. Otherwise 30 days. 95%  8.6 days 88% 

Pensions Options 
Package

Within 14 days of receiving termination 
notice from the employer or all 

information in. 
95%  7 days  94%

Pension Payment for 
new Retirees

Within 30 days of retirement or all 
information in. 95%  25.2 days  97%

Monthly Pension 
Payments

Second last business day of the month, 
with exception to December 100%  100%

Resignation Package
Within 30 days of receiving termination 

notice from the employer or all 
information in.

90%  3.9 days  98%

Resignation Payments Within 30 days of receiving all required 
documentation or all information in. 90%  15.4 days  88%

Secure message 
responses Within 2 business days 100%  1.0 day 98%

Telephone inquiries Retirements: 80% in 135 seconds
Other calls: 80% in 180 seconds

 Retirements: 
86% 

Other Tiers: 82%

Call abandonment rate Defined as any abandoned call <5% 7.6%

The Voice of the Customer score was 83.6% in 2021.  
This score measures member and pensioner satisfaction 
with their interaction with APS’s Member Services Centre
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Investment Report

AIMCo CEO Update

Alberta Investment Management Corporation (AIMCo) is proud to be the asset manager for all 
of SFPP’s nearly $4B in pension funds. We perform these duties for most other public service 
pensions in the province, as well as a number of speciality government funds. We’re based in 
Edmonton, with offices in Toronto, London and Luxembourg, along with plans to expand most 
immediately to Calgary and likely Singapore thereafter. Having this global footprint gets us easier 
access to the best investment opportunities in the world. 

I joined AIMCo as CEO on July 1, 2021 after six years as President and CEO of Canadian Mortgage 
and Housing Corporation (CMHC). Having experienced the motivational value of service and 
purpose in my job, the opportunity to lead an organization with AIMCo’s inspiring purpose as 
AIMCo, was appealing. I also believe that we have an opportunity to reposition AIMCo as a client-
first organization and through that to deliver better results on your behalf. 

My initial listening tour of employee and client meetings exposed one thing above all else: 
AIMCo’s 600+ employees are genuinely inspired and driven by the purpose of serving Albertans. 
Many of our employees have personal connections to members of SFPP, making their work even 
more meaningful. We all want to do our best work for you.

We cemented that drive in a new purpose statement to accompany our new client-centric, 
performance-driven corporate strategy: 

“AIMCo exists to help our clients secure a better financial future for the Albertans they serve.”

Much has been made of our historic 2021 results. However, we should be evaluated over the 
long term: that’s our job and our focus. Since our inception in 2008, we have added over $100 
million to SFPP’s pension fund, helping keep contribution rates stable and your pensions secure 
and reliable. I’m proud of the work we do on your behalf, and want you to know that every day, 
AIMCo’s team comes to work with you in mind.

We are grateful to have SFPP as one of our important clients.

Evan Siddall 
Chief Executive Officer  
Alberta Investment  
Management Corporation
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Investment Policy and Oversight

Statement of Investment Policies and 
Procedures (SIPP)

Approximately 70 per cent of pension benefits 
paid out to Plan members comes from investment 
returns. Investment performance plays a critical 
part in making sure there is enough money to pay 
pension benefits now and in the future.

Assets are invested for the benefit of the Plan’s 
beneficiaries in accordance with the Board’s SIPP. 
The SIPP is reviewed and updated annually by the 
Board to ensure there is an alignment between 
investment returns and risk tolerance. The 
SIPP also defines the investment management 
structure and monitoring procedures. 

Oversight and Management

AIMCo is responsible for the day-to-day 
investment of SFPP’s assets, subject to the SIPP. 
Investment managers have the flexibility to act 
within the prescribed limits of the SIPP to provide 
value over the investment policy benchmark. 
Returns above benchmark, known as “value add”, 
are expected considering the active management 
approach used by AIMCo. 

An annual performance scorecard is used to assess 
and communicate AIMCo’s performance in the 
following areas:

+ Alignment with SFPP goals and  
investment objectives

+ Organizational sustainability to deliver 
expected returns

+ Management of investment risk specific  
to SFPP’s portfolio

+ Investment performance in relation to  
policy benchmarks

The performance scorecard is submitted to the 
CEO of AIMCo; it includes both the assessment  
and recommendations for improvement.
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Investment Implementation 

Asset Mix

Diversification is the key ingredient to portfolio 
management. SFPP is invested in a diversified set 
of asset classes to help balance the risks among 
varying asset classes, geographies and sectors 
that will improve the likelihood of achieving the 
desired results for a given level of risk. In broad 
terms, SFPP has fixed income, equities and 
inflation-sensitive assets. The following is an 
explanation of each asset class and its value  
to a diversified portfolio:

+ Money market: Money market: These 
investments are typically characterized by 
safety and liquidity. The short-term nature 
of this investment and low absolute volatility 
makes it generally low risk, but it also 
generates relatively low rates of return.

+ Fixed income: There are a variety of 
instruments that fall under this category, 
but this asset class consists of investments 
that pay out a set level of cash flows to the 
Plan, typically in the form of fixed interest or 
dividends for a fixed term. At maturity, these 
debt instruments usually also repay the 
principal that the Plan initially invested.  
Fixed income securities align closely with  
the interest rate risk associated with the  
Plan’s pension obligation.

+ Equities: Equities are shares of ownership in 
both publicly traded and private companies. 
To enhance stability through diversification, 
these instruments are further divided by 
geographical/economic region (Canadian, 
global developed, and emerging market) and 
market capitalization/size of business. These 
investments are intended to provide long-term 
growth which will enable the Plan to meet the 
funding requirements of its pension obligation.

+ Inflation sensitive: These investments include 
any publicly traded or privately held investment 
that provides inflation-based returns, seen 
as protection against inflation. These typically 
consist of tangible assets such as investments 
in real estate, infrastructure, or renewables or 
real-return bonds, which are bonds that pay a 
rate of return adjusted for inflation.

+ Strategic, tactical and currency investments: 
SFPP provides AIMCo with the autonomy 
to invest up to 5% of total assets in certain 
strategic opportunities that are outside the 
listed asset classes. This provides AIMCo the 
ability to seize market opportunities that they 
deem appropriate to the Plan’s mandate. The 
investment may yield a higher-than-average 
return, although that is usually associated with 
a higher-than-average risk profile. 

Investment Risk Management

Investment risk management is a key component 
of the Plan’s effective governance. SFPP 
Corporation and the Sponsor Board recognize that 
in order to meet the investment return objectives 
of the Plan, a reasonable level of investment risk 
must be taken. 

Risk can be reduced through asset class 
diversification. Diversification also aims to reduce 
volatility, negative impacts from unanticipated 
inflation and outsized exposure to individual 
issuers or single industries. AIMCo also has 
accountability for investment risk management.  
A quantitative investment risk management 
system is applied across all asset classes and a 
variety of risk types.

Investment risk management does not require the 
elimination of risk, but rather the balancing of risk 
and return to meet Plan objectives.
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Investment Results

Year in Review Results

The Plan’s investments generated a return of  
15.6 per cent in 2021. This was significantly more 
than the annual average of 7.4 per cent for the  
last 20 years. 

In 2021, the financial position of SFPP improved 
from the previous year’s surplus position. As of 
December 31, 2021, the fair market value of the 
Plan’s net assets increased by $573 million.

At December 31, 2021, the fair market value  
of the Plan’s net assets was higher than the 
estimated pension liability, resulting in a surplus 
of $424 million. The fund was made up of the 
following investment types. 

Equities 
Interest-bearing securities
Inflation-sensitive and 
alternative investments

2020 52.4%

20.6%

27.0%

2021 52.3%

21.6%

26.1%

INVESTMENT ALLOCATION
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Investment Policy and Oversight At a Glance…
Investment performance plays a critical part in making sure there  

is enough money to pay pension benefits now and in the future.

AIMCo is a crown corporation of the Government of Alberta  
and the mandated investment manager for SFPP,  

as well as other public sector pension plans.

Assets are invested according to SFPP’s  
Statement of Investment Policies and Procedures (SIPP),  

which SFPP Corporation reviews annually to improve alignment  
with investment returns and risk tolerance.

Investment managers have the flexibility to act within the prescribed 
limits of the SIPP to deliver value over the policy benchmark.

Together with an independent consultant, SFPP monitors 
compliance with the SIPP and performance against benchmarks.

Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 202126
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SFPP INVESTMENT ALLOCATIONS AND RANGES

ASSET CLASS LT POLICY 
WEIGHT

POLICY RANGE ACTUAL

MINIMUM MAXIMUM 2021 2020

% % % % %

Money market 1.0 0.0 10.0 1.1 1.2

Fixed income 23.0 25.0 25.8

Universal Bonds, Mortgages,PD&L (1) 8.0 4.0 18.0 10.8 11.6

Universal Bonds 7.4 8.1

Private Debt & Loan 1.7 1.5

Private Mortgages 1.7 2.0

Long Government Bonds 15.0 12.0 20.0 14.2 14.2

Equities (2) 47.0 52.3 52.4

Canadian Equity 10.0 8.0 16.0 10.3 10.3

Global Developed Equity 25.0 14.0 34.0 29.1 31.2

Emerging Markets Equity 4.0 0.0 8.0 4.2 4.3

Global Small Cap Equity 3.0 0.0 6.0 3.3 3.2

Private Equity 5.0 0.0 8.0 5.4 3.4

Inflation Sensitive & Alternatives 29.0 21.3 20.1

Real Return Bonds 4.0 2.0 8.0 3.4 3.9

Real Estate (Canadian) (3) 8.5 6.0 15.0 6.8 6.0

Real Estate (Foreign) (3) 4.0 1.0 7.0 3.3 3.1

Infrastructure and Renewable 
Resources 12.5 7.0 15.0 7.8 7.2

Infrastructure 6.2 5.5

Renewable Resources 1.6 1.6

Strategic, Tactical and Currency 
Investments - - - 0.3 0.5

Grand Total 100.0 100.0 100.0

(1)  The combined allocation to private mortgages and private debt is restricted to a range of 0% to 6%.
(2)  The combined allocation to public and private equities is restricted to a maximum limit of 72%.
(3)  Two separate allocations to Canadian and Foreign comprise the long-term strategic allocation of 12.5% to real estate.
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Investment Results Compared to Benchmarks

To evaluate performance and measure the value added by the investment managers from their active 
investment decisions, the actual investment results are compared to the investment policy benchmark. 
The benchmark return represents what could reasonably be earned without active management if 
invested in the market indices in proportion to the policy asset mix approved by the Board. 

The Plan’s investment policy benchmark is based on the long-term asset mix weightings of the portfolio 
invested in the following indices: FTSE TMX 91-Day T-Bill Index, FTSE TMX Universe Bond Index, FTSE 
TMX Long Term All Government Bond Index, FTSE TMX Real Return Bond Index, S&P/TSX Composite 
Index, MSCI World, EM net and World Small Cap Indexes, IPD Large Institutional All Property Index, IPD 
Global Region Property Index and the blended Private Income Index to measure Infrastructure and 
Renewable resources.

The performance of AIMCo is reviewed against the policy benchmark to measure the effectiveness of its 
decisions. Performance is reviewed quarterly, with an emphasis on four-year returns. According to the 
Plan’s SIPP, the Board expects that the investments held by the Plan will return approximately 65 basis 
points, or 0.65% per annum, above the policy benchmark return over the long-term.

The table below shows the value-added return from the investment manager in each of the past four 
years along with the annualized returns over ten and 20 years. Given the nature of pensions, it is good  
to focus on the long-term performance of the Plan versus focusing on short-term returns. 

LONG-TERM INVESTMENT RETURNS
ANNUALIZED RETURNS (%)

4 YEARS 10 YEARS 20 YEARS

Actual return 8.4 9.9 7.4

Policy benchmark return 8.3 9.2 7.0

Value added 0.1 0.7 0.4
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Ten Year Investment Overview

INVESTMENT RETURNS BY YEAR

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1-year Return 11.40% 14.50% 12.00% 9.30% 6.80% 10.90% 0.50% 13.53% 4.52% 15.60%

Benchmark 9.20% 13.40% 12.20% 7.10% 6.80% 9.60% -0.10% 14.36% 10.22% 9.70%

Value added 2.20% 1.10% 0.20% 2.20% 0.00% 1.30% 0.60% -0.83% -5.70% 5.90%

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT EXPENSES

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

% of every 
dollar 0.5% 0.5% 0.6% 0.6% 0.5% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.5% 0.9%

Per member $1,144 $1,524 $1,909 $2,177 $1,925 $2,302 $2,468 $2,734 $2,369 $4,460

The increase in cost per member in 2021 is a result of performance fees based on significant value-added returns in the year.

Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 2021 29



Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 202130 Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 202130

The Year Ahead 
Over the last three years, significant foundational work has been undertaken 
at SFPP Corporation to build capacity as an independent organization. We 
have built critical organizational infrastructure to enable enhanced risk 
management, and we have worked with members to identify some areas 
where continuous improvement would strengthen our approach even further.

We are in a strong position to build on this foundational work  
moving forward. Our sizeable investment returns provide us with  
the opportunity for stability and predictability over the short term, and 
our organizational structures will position us to pursue new levels of 
organizational excellence and value-add.

Our 2023-25 Strategic Plan will be released in the coming months. This 
document will put forward a vision, mission and values to act as our “true 
north” as we continue to navigate changes in our investment environment. 
It will also articulate our commitments to foster corporate leadership, 
strengthen relationships with stakeholders, and innovate to continuously 
improve the quality of our work.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the SFPP Corporation Board of Directors

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION
I have audited the financial statements of the Special Forces Pension Plan, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at December 31, 2021, and the statements of changes in net assets available for benefits, and changes in 
pension obligation for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Special Forces Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, and the changes in net assets available for benefits and changes in 
its pension obligations for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for pension plans.

BASIS FOR OPINION
I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. My responsibilities under  
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my 
report. I am independent of the Special Forces Pension Plan in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial statements in Canada, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis  
for my opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual 
Report, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be 
made available to me after the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work I will perform on this other information, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for pension plans, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Special Forces Pension Plan’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless an intention exists to liquidate or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Special Forces Pension Plan’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Special Forces Pension 
Plan’s internal control.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Special Forces Pension Plan’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Special Forces Pension Plan to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,  
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves  
fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

[Original signed by W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D] 
Auditor General

June 7, 2022 
Edmonton, Alberta
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SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at December 31, 2021

($ thousands) 2021 2020

Net Assets Available for Benefits

Assets

Investments (Note 3) $ 4,158,325 $ 3,587,454

Contributions receivable

Employers 3,014 2,707

Employees 2,748 2,447

Province of Alberta 728 735

Accounts receivable 1,428 1,077

Total Assets 4,166,243 3,594,420

Liabilities

Accounts payable 193 1,677

Total Liabilities 193 1,677

Net assets available for benefits $ 4,166,050 $ 3,592,743

Pension obligation and surplus

Pension obligation (Note 5) $ 3,741,886 $ 3,583,002

Surplus (Note 6) 424,164 9,741

Pension obligation and surplus $ 4,166,050 $ 3,592,743

The accompanying notes are part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board:

Original signed by 

Denis Jubinville 
Chair, Corporate Board

Approved by Management:

Original signed by 

Liz Doughty 
Chief Executive Officer
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SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS  
AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS 
Year ended December 31, 2021

($ thousands) 2021 2020

Increase in assets

Contributions (Note 7)

Employers $ 74,541 $ 74,325

Employees 70,319 70,509

Province of Alberta 6,378 6,595

Transfers from other plans 2,080 420

Investment income (Note 8)

Income 454,791 169,420

Change in fair value 141,676 1,614

749,785 322,883

Decrease in assets

Benefit payments (Note 10) 137,935 161,459

Transfer to other plans 879 1,474

Investment expenses (Note 11) 34,212 17,858

Administrative expenses (Note 12) 3,452 3,726

176,478 184,517

Increase in net assets 573,307 138,366

Net assets available for benefits at  
beginning of year 3,592,743 3,454,377

Net assets available for benefits at end of year $ 4,166,050 $ 3,592,743

The accompanying notes are part of these financial statements.
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SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN  
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PENSION OBLIGATION 
Year ended December 31, 2021

2021 2020

($ thousands) Pre-1992 Post-1991 Total Pre-1992 Post-1991 Total

Increase in pension obligation

Interest accrued on opening  
pension obligations $ 40,598 $ 148,317 $ 188,915 $ 43,171 $ 143,175 $ 186,346

Benefits earned - 120,551 120,551 - 115,735 115,735

Net loss due to actuarial 
assumption changes - - - 28,548 142,517 171,065

Net experience (gain) loss 
(Note 5b) - - - (1,306) 8,151 6,845

40,598 268,868 309,466 70,413 409,578 479,991

Decrease in pension obligation

Benefit payments, transfers 
and interest 61,589 78,700 140,289 60,881 103,954 164,835

Net experience (loss) gain 
(Note 5b) (283) 10,576 10,293 - - -

Net gain due to plan provision 
changes (Note 5c) - - - - 1,900 1,900

61,306 89,276 150,582 60,881 105,854 166,735

Net (decrease) increase in  
pension obligation (20,708) 179,592 158,884 9,532 303,724 313,256

Pension obligation at beginning 
of year 780,447 2,802,555 3,583,002 770,915 2,498,831 3,269,746

Pension obligation at end of 
year (Note 5) $ 759,739 $ 2,982,147 $ 3,741,886 $ 780,447 $ 2,802,555 $ 3,583,002

The accompanying notes are part of these financial statements.
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SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021
(All dollar amounts in thousands, except per member data in dollars)

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN

The following description of the Special Forces Pension Plan (SFPP or the Plan) is a summary only. For a complete 
description of the Plan, reference should be made to the Joint Governance of Public Sector Pension Plans Act (Alberta) 
and the SFPP plan text document.

Unless otherwise stated, all terms that are not defined below have the meaning ascribed to them in the Plan. Should 
anything in Note 1 or the financial statements conflict with the plan text and applicable pension laws, the plan rules 
and legislation shall apply.

a)  GENERAL

 The Plan is a defined benefit pension plan for police officers employed by participating employers in Alberta.

 The Plan is a registered pension plan (registration number 0584375) as defined in the Income Tax Act, and 
accordingly, is not subject to income taxes. The Plan is also registered as a jointly sponsored plan under the 
Employment Pension Plans Act (Alberta) (EPPA), with certain exemptions provided under the Joint Governance of 
Public Sector Pensions Plan Act (Alberta), and the Exemption (Public Sector Pension) Regulation.

 SFPP Corporation is the legal trustee of the Fund and administrator of the Plan. SFPP Corporation is responsible 
for the Plan Fund and all administrative functions of the Plan.

 The Corporation is governed by a Board of Directors. The board members are nominated by the Plan’s sponsors 
and are appointed by Government.

 The SFPP Sponsor Board represents police association and participating employers. The Sponsor Board 
is responsible for plan text, setting contribution rates, and the Plan’s funding policy. The Sponsor Board is 
supported by SFPP Corporation.
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN (continued) 

b)  PLAN FUNDING

 Contributions and investment earnings are expected to fund all benefits payable under the Plan from the 
Plan Fund. Employees and employers are responsible for fully funding service after 1991. The current service 
contribution rates for employers are 1.1% higher than the rates of employees.

 The Sponsor Board, in consultation with the Plan’s actuary, reviews the contribution rates at least once every 
three years. The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was prepared at December 31, 2019. 
Under the Joint Governance of Public Sector Pension Plans Act, no solvency funding requirements prescribed by the 
Employment Pension Plans Act apply to the Plan.

 The unfunded liability for service prior to December 31, 1991 is being financed by additional contributions from 
employees, employers, and the Province of Alberta. Additional contributions are payable until December 31, 
2036 unless the unfunded liability has been previously eliminated. The rates in effect at December 31, 2021 
were 0.75% each for employers and employees, and 1.25% of pensionable salary for the Province of Alberta. As 
long as there remains an unfunded liability for pre-1992 service, payment of all benefits arising from service 
before 1992 is guaranteed by the Province of Alberta. (Section 38 of Schedule 3 of the Joint Governance of Public 
Sector Pension Plans Act.)

 The contribution rates in effect at December 31, 2021 for current service and post-1991 actuarial deficiency 
were 13.80% of pensionable salary for employers and 12.70% for employees, unchanged from 2020. Of this, 
contribution rates towards current service were 13.39% (2020: 12.87%) of pensionable earnings for employers 
and 12.29% (2020: 11.77%) for employees. Contributions towards the post-1991 actuarial deficiency were 0.41% 
(2020: 0.93%) of pensionable salary each for both employers and employees.

 The total contribution rates in effect at December 31, 2021 were 14.55% of pensionable salary for employers 
and 13.45% of pensionable salary for employees, unchanged from 2020.

 Pensionable earnings are subject to an upper limit (the salary cap) to ensure the pension accrual is not greater 
than the maximum pension benefit limit allowed under the Income Tax Act. In 2021, the salary cap was $180,758 
(2020: $172,221).

c)  RETIREMENT BENEFITS

 A member can commence their pension after 25 years of pensionable service or from age 55 and being vested. 
A member is vested for a retirement benefit when they have at least two years of pensionable service if they 
terminated on or after April 1, 2020, five years of pensionable service if they terminated prior to April 1, 2020,  
or immediately if they are a participant in the Plan on or after attaining age 65.

 The Plan is integrated with the Canada Pension Plan’s Year’s Maximum Pensionable Earnings (YMPE). The Plan 
provides for a pension of 1.4% for each year of pensionable service based on highest average salary over five 
consecutive years up to the average YMPE over the same five consecutive year period and 2.0% on the salary 
above average YMPE, subject to the maximum pension benefit limit allowed under the Income Tax Act. For 
members who retire before age 65, the pension will include a bridge benefit. This bridge is provided up to age 
65. The bridge benefit is 0.6% for each year of pensionable service based on the average of the highest five 
consecutive years up to the YMPE. The maximum pensionable service allowable under the Plan is 35 years.

SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021
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d)  DISABILITY PENSIONS

 Members who become disabled and are in receipt of benefits from an approved disability plan continue to earn 
pensionable service credits under the Plan.

 Individuals who became members before July 1, 2007, have a vested benefit in SFPP, and are totally or partially 
disabled may be entitled to an SFPP disability pension. Pensions may be payable to vested members who 
become totally disabled and retire early. Reduced pensions may be payable to vested members who become 
partially disabled and retire early.

e)  DEATH BENEFITS

 Benefits are payable on the death of a member.

 If the member is vested, dies prior to commencing to receive a pension, and has a pension partner, the surviving 
pension partner may choose to receive either a survivor pension or a lump-sum payment. If there is no surviving 
pension partner, the beneficiary(ies) would receive a lump-sum payment. There are additional benefits for any 
dependent minor children with respect to pre-1992 service.

 If the member is not vested, the pension partner or beneficiary(ies) is entitled to receive death benefits in the 
form of a lump-sum payment.

 If the member is vested and dies after commencing to receive a pension, the death benefit will depend on the 
pension option selected at retirement and can include a lifetime pension payable to a surviving pension partner, 
or a monthly pension or lump-sum benefit payable to the surviving beneficiary(ies) based on any remaining 
guaranteed period.

f)  TERMINATION BENEFITS, REFUNDS AND TRANSFERS

 Vested members who terminate before accumulating 25 years of pensionable service and age 55 may choose 
to receive a deferred pension or to withdraw their funds from the Plan. If the member chooses to withdraw 
their funds, they will receive a refund of their contributions and interest on service prior to 1992 and a lump-
sum payment equal to the commuted value of their pension for service after 1991, with the commuted value 
being subject to locking-in provisions. Any service purchased by the member on an elective basis that was 
wholly funded by the member is not included in the commuted value and is instead refunded as contributions 
with interest. Prior to April 1, 2020, if the member’s contributions with interest exceeded more than 50% of the 
commuted value, the excess contributions with interest were refunded as taxable cash. As of April 1, 2020, if the 
member’s contributions with interest exceed more than 100% of the commuted value, the excess contributions 
with interest are refunded as taxable cash. Members who are not vested when they terminate receive a refund 
of the employee paid portion of their contributions with interest. These payments are included as benefit 
payments on the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits.

SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN (continued) 

g)  PURCHASED SERVICE AND TRANSFERS

 Leave of absence without salary which occur before the Plan’s deadline are costed on a contribution basis.  
All other leave and eligible service purchases are costed on an actuarial reserve basis and are cost neutral  
to the Plan.

 The Plan also allows for the transfer of entitlements into the Plan under a transfer agreement. Reciprocal 
agreements provide that transferred-in service be on an actuarial reserve basis and transferred-out service 
receive the greater of the commuted value or all contributions made by the member to the Plan.

h)  COST-OF-LIVING ADJUSTMENTS (COLA)

 For pre-2001 service, pensions payable is increased each year on January 1st by an amount equal to 60% of the 
increase in the Alberta Consumer Price Index. The increase is based on the increase during the twelve-month 
period ending on October 31st in the previous year. The increase is prorated on a monthly basis for pensions that 
became payable within the previous year.

 For post-2000 service, the Sponsor Board determines each year whether COLA can be granted based on the 
Plan’s financial condition.

 The increase is prorated on a monthly basis for pensions that became payable within the previous year. 
Currently, COLA for post-2000 service is at 30% of the increase in the Alberta Consumer Price Index.

SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES

a)  BASIS OF PRESENTATION

 These financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with Canadian accounting 
standards for pension plans. The Plan has elected to apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 
accounting policies that do not relate to its investment portfolio or pension obligation. The statements provide 
information about the net assets available in the Plan to meet future benefit payments and are prepared to 
assist Plan members and others in reviewing the activities of the Plan for the year.

b)  VALUATION OF INVESTMENTS

 Investments are recorded at fair value. As disclosed in Note 3, the Plan’s investments consist primarily of direct 
ownership in units of pooled investment funds (“the pools”). The pools are established by Ministerial Order 
16/2014, being the Establishment and Maintenance of Pooled Funds, pursuant to the Financial Administration 
Act (Alberta), and the Alberta Investment Management Corporation Act (Alberta). Participants in pools include 
government and non-government funds and plans.

 Contracts to buy and sell financial instruments in the pools are between the Province of Alberta and the 
third party to the contracts. Participants in the pools are not party to the contracts and have no control over 
the management of the pool and the selection of securities in the pool. Alberta Investment Management 
Corporation (AIMCo), a Crown corporation within the Ministry of Treasury Board and Finance, controls the 
creation of the pools and the management and administration of the pools including security selection. 
Accordingly, the Plan does not report the financial instruments of the pools on its statement of financial position.

 The Plan becomes exposed to the financial risks and rewards associated with the underlying financial 
instruments in a pool when it purchases units issued by the pools and loses its exposure to those financial risks 
and rewards when it sells its units. The Plan reports its share of financial risks in Note 4.

 The fair value of units held by the Plan is derived from the fair value of the underlying financial instruments held 
by the pools as determined by AIMCo (see Note 3b). Investments in units are recorded in the Plan’s accounts. 
The underlying financial instruments are recorded in the accounts of the pools. The pools have a market-based 
unit value that is used to distribute income to the pool participants and to value purchases and sales of the pool 
units. The pools include various financial instruments such as bonds, equities, real estate, derivatives, investment 
receivables and payables and cash.

 Investments in units are recorded in the Plan’s accounts on a trade date basis. All purchases and sales of the 
pool units are in Canadian dollars.

 Fair value is the amount of consideration agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, 
willing parties who are under no compulsion to act.

SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (continued)

c)  INVESTMENT INCOME

 Investment income is recorded on an accrual basis.

 Investment income is reported in the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits and in Note 8 and 
includes the following items recorded in the Plan’s accounts:

  i.  Income distributions from the pools based on the Plan’s pro-rata share of total units issued by  
  the pools; and

  ii.  Changes in fair value of units including realized gains and losses on disposal of units and unrealized  
  gains and losses on units determined on an average cost basis.

d)  INVESTMENT EXPENSES

 Investment expenses include all amounts incurred by the Plan to earn investment income (see Note 11). 
Investment expenses are recorded on an accrual basis. Transaction costs are expensed as they are incurred.

e)  VALUATION OF PENSION OBLIGATION

 The value of the pension obligation and changes therein during the year are based on an actuarial valuation 
prepared by an independent firm of actuaries. The valuation is performed at least every three years and results 
from the most recent valuation are extrapolated, on an annual basis, to year-end. The valuation uses the 
projected benefit method pro-rated on service and SFPP Corporation’s best estimate, as at the measurement 
date, of various economic and non-economic assumptions.

SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021
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f)  MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY

 In preparing these financial statements, estimates and assumptions are used in circumstances where the  
actual values are unknown. Uncertainty in the determination of the amount at which an item is recognized  
in the financial statements is known as measurement uncertainty. Such uncertainty exists when there is a 
variance between the recognized amount and another reasonably possible amount, as there is whenever 
estimates are used.

 Measurement uncertainty exists in the valuation of the Plan’s pension obligation, private investments,  
hedge funds, real estate and renewable investments. Uncertainty arises because:

  i.  the Plan’s actual experience may differ, perhaps significantly, from assumptions used in the  
  extrapolation of the Plan’s pension obligation, and

  ii.  the estimated fair values of the Plan’s private investments, hedge funds, real estate and renewable  
  investments may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market  
  existed for these investments.

  iii.  the current economic environment has significant market volatility stemming from the global pandemic  
  COVID-19 virus.

 While best estimates have been used in the valuation of the Plan’s pension obligation, private investments, 
hedge funds, real estate and renewable investments, it is possible, based on existing knowledge, that changes in 
future conditions in the short term could require a material change in the recognized amounts.

 Differences between actual results and expectations in the Plan’s pension obligation are disclosed as assumption 
or other changes and net experience gains or losses in the statement of changes in pension obligation in the year 
when actual results are known.

 Differences between the estimated fair values and the amount ultimately realized for investments are included 
in net investment income in the year when the ultimate realizable values are known.

SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021
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SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021

NOTE 3 – INVESTMENTS

The Plan’s investments are managed at the asset class level for purposes of evaluating the Plan’s risk exposure 
and investment performance against approved benchmarks based on fair value. AIMCo invests the Plan’s assets in 
accordance with the Statement of Investment Policies and Procedures (SIPP) approved by the SFPP Corporate Board. 
The fair value of the pool units is based on the Plan’s share of the net asset value of the pooled fund. The pools have a 
market-based unit value that is used to allocate income to participants of the pool and to value purchases and sales of 
pool units. AIMCo is delegated authority to independently purchase and sell securities in the pools and Plan, and units of 
the pools, within the ranges approved for each asset class (see Note 4).

Fair Value Hierarchy(a)  ($ thousands)

2021 2020

Asset class Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Interest-bearing securities

Cash and short-term 
securities $ 46,772 $ - $ 46,772 $ 42,330 $ - $ 42,330

Bonds, mortgages,  
private debt and loans 900,172 141,034 1,041,206 802,487 125,484 927,971

946,944 141,034 1,087,978 844,817 125,484 970,301

Equities

Canadian 429,884 - 429,884 369,323 - 369,323

Global developed 1,181,906 30,530 1,212,436 1,084,344 34,448 1,118,792

Private 1 223,004 223,005 1 123,230 123,231

Emerging markets 173,069 - 173,069 152,723 - 152,723

Global small cap 135,562 - 135,562 114,221 - 114,221

1,920,422 253,534 2,173,956 1,720,612 157,678 1,878,290

Inflation sensitive

Real estate - 420,048 420,048 - 325,211 325,211

Infrastructure 2 257,621 257,623 - 198,576 198,576

Real return bonds 142,583 - 142,583 140,180 - 140,180

Renewable - 64,862 64,862 - 57,946 57,946

142,585 742,531 885,116 140,180 581,733 721,913

Strategic, tactical and 
currency investments* 1,586 9,689 11,275 2,190 14,760 16,950

Total investments $ 3,011,537 $ 1,146,788 $ 4,158,325 $ 2,707,799 $ 879,655 $ 3,587,454

* This asset class is not listed separately in the SIPP as it relates to strategic investments and currency overlays made on an opportunistic and 
discretionary basis by AIMCo (see Note 4).
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a)  Fair Value Hierarchy: The quality and reliability of information used to estimate the fair value of investments is 
classified according to the following fair value hierarchy with level 1 being the highest quality and reliability.

 •  Level 1 - fair value is based on quoted prices in an active market. Although the pools may ultimately hold   
 publicly traded listed equity investments, the pool units themselves are not listed in an active market and  
 therefore cannot be classified as Level 1 for fair value hierarchy purposes. Pool units classified by the Plan  
 as Level 2 may contain investments that might otherwise be classified as Level 1.

 •  Level 2 - fair value is estimated using valuation techniques that make use of market-observable inputs other  
 than quoted market prices. This level includes pool units that hold public equities, debt securities and  
 derivative contracts totaling $3,011,537 (2020: $2,707,799).

 •  Level 3 - fair value is estimated using inputs based on non-observable market data. This level includes pool  
 units that hold private mortgages, hedge funds, private equities and inflation sensitive investments totaling  
 $1,146,788 (2020: $879,655).

 Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value Measurements:

($ thousands) 2021 2020

Balance, beginning of year $ 879,655 $ 859,566

Investment (loss) income* 203,611 (32,913)

Purchases of Level 3 pooled fund units 189,728 160,932

Sale of Level 3 pooled fund units (126,199) (107,930)

Level 3 transfers out (7) -

Balance at end of year $ 1,146,788 $ 879,655

 * Investment income includes unrealized losses of $128,573 (2020: $86,535).

b)  Valuation of Financial Instruments recorded by AIMCo in the Pools

 The methods used to determine the fair value of investments recorded in the pools are explained in the  
following paragraphs:

 •  Interest-bearing securities: Public interest-bearing securities are valued at the year-end closing sale price  
 or the average of the latest bid and ask prices quoted by an independent securities valuation company. Private  
 mortgages are valued based on the net present value of future cash flows. Cash flows are discounted using  
 appropriate interest rate premiums over similar Government of Canada benchmark bonds trading in the  
 market. Private debt and loans are valued similar to private mortgages.
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NOTE 3 – INVESTMENTS (continued) 

 •  Equities: Public equities are valued at the year-end closing sale price or the average of the latest bid and  
 ask prices quoted by an independent securities valuation company. The fair value of hedge fund investments  
 is estimated by external managers. The fair value of private equities is estimated by managers or general  
 partners of private equity funds, pools and limited partnerships. Valuation methods may encompass a  
 broad range of approaches. The cost approach is used to value companies without either profits or cash flows.  
 Established private companies are valued using the fair market value approach reflecting conventional  
 valuation methods including discounted cash flows and earnings multiple analysis.

 •  Inflation sensitive: The estimated fair value of private real estate investments is reported at the most  
 recent appraised value, net of any liabilities against the real property. Real estate properties are appraised  
 annually by qualified external real estate appraisers. Appraisers use a combination of methods to determine  
 fair value including replacement cost, direct comparison, direct capitalization of earnings and the discounted  
 cash flows. The fair value of renewable investments is appraised annually by independent third-party  
 evaluators. Infrastructure investments are valued similar to private equity investments. Real return bonds are  
 valued similar to public interest-bearing securities.

 •  Strategic, tactical and currency investments: For tactical asset allocations, investments in derivative  
 contracts provides overweight or underweight exposure to global equity and bond markets, including  
 emerging markets. Currency investments consist of directly held currency forward and spot contracts.

 •  Foreign currency: Foreign currency transactions in pools are translated into Canadian dollars using average  
 rates of exchange. At year end, the fair value of investments in other assets and liabilities denominated in a  
 foreign currency are translated at the year-end exchange rates.

 •  Derivative contracts: The carrying value of derivative contracts in a favourable and unfavourable position is  
 recorded at fair value and is included in the fair value of pooled investment funds (see Note 4f). The estimated  
 fair value of equity and bond index swaps is based on changes in the appropriate market-based index net of  
 accrued floating rate interest. Interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued based on  
 discounted cash flows using current market yields and exchange rates. Credit default swaps are valued based  
 on discounted cash flows using current market yields and calculated default probabilities. Forward foreign  
 exchange contracts are valued based on difference between contractual foreign exchange rates and foreign  
 exchange forward rate. Futures contracts are valued based on quoted market prices. Options to enter into  
 interest rate swap contracts are valued based on discounted cash flows using current market yields and  
 volatility parameters which measure changes in the underlying swap. Warrants and rights are valued at the  
 year-end closing sale price or the average of the latest bid and ask prices quoted by an independent securities  
 valuation company.
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NOTE 4 – INVESTMENT RISK MANAGEMENT

The Plan is exposed to financial risks associated with the underlying securities held in the pools created and managed 
by AIMCo. These financial risks include credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. Credit risk relates to the possibility 
that a loss may occur from the failure of another party to perform according to the terms of a contract. Market risk is 
comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. Liquidity risk is the risk the Plan will not be able to meet its 
obligations as they fall due.

The investment policies and procedures of the Plan are clearly outlined in the SIPP approved by the SFPP Corporate 
Board. The purpose of the SIPP is to ensure the Plan is invested and managed in a prudent manner in accordance 
with current, accepted governance practices incorporating an appropriate level of risk. The SFPP Corporate Board 
manages the Plan’s return-risk trade- off through asset class diversification, target ranges on each asset class, 
diversification within each asset class, quality constraints on fixed income instruments and restrictions on amounts 
exposed to countries designated as emerging markets. Forward foreign exchange contracts may be used to manage 
currency exposure in connection with securities purchased in a foreign currency (see Note 4b).

Actuarial liabilities of the Plan are primarily affected by the long-term real rate of return expected to be earned on 
investments. In order to earn the best possible return at an acceptable level of risk, the SFPP Corporate Board has 
established the following asset mix long term policy weight:

Asset class
Target Asset 

Mix

Actual Asset Mix

2021 2020

($ thousands) % ($ thousands) %

Interest-bearing securities

Money market  
(cash and short-term securities) 1% $ 46,772 1.1 $ 42,330 1.1

Fixed income (bonds and mortgages) 23% 1,041,206 25.0 927,971 25.9

Equities 47% 2,173,956 52.3 1,878,290 52.4

Inflation sensitive 29% 885,116 21.3 721,913 20.1

Strategic, tactical and currency (b) 11,275 0.3 16,950 0.5

$ 4,158,325 100.0 $ 3,587,454 100.0

(a)  Actual investments are within the ranges for each asset class outlined in the SIPP.

(b)  In accordance with the SIPP, AIMCo may invest up to 5% of the fair value of the Plan’s investments in strategic opportunities that are outside of the 
asset classes listed above. AIMCo may, at its discretion, invest the funds in currency overlays.
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NOTE 4 – INVESTMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a)  Credit Risk

i)  Debt securities

 The Plan is indirectly exposed to credit risk associated with the underlying debt securities held in the pools 
managed by AIMCo. Counterparty credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to 
fully honour its financial obligations. The credit quality of financial assets is generally assessed by reference 
to external credit ratings. The credit rating of a debt security may be impacted by the overall credit rating of 
the counterparty, the seniority of the debt issue, bond covenants, maturity distribution and other factors.

 Credit risk can also lead to losses when issuers and debtors are downgraded by credit rating agencies 
usually leading to a fall in the fair value of the counterparty’s obligations. Credit risk exposure for financial 
instruments is measured by the positive fair value of the contractual obligations with counterparties. The fair 
value of all investments reported in Note 3 is directly or indirectly impacted by credit risk to some degree.  
The majority of investments in debt securities have credit ratings considered to be investment grade.

 Unrated debt securities consist primarily of mortgages and private debt placements.

 The table below summarizes the Plan’s investments in debt securities by credit rating at December 31, 2021:

Credit rating 2021 2020

Investment Grade (AAA to BBB-) 86.2% 84.2%

Speculative Grade (BB+ or lower) 1.8% 2.2%

Unrated 12.0% 13.6%

100.0% 100.0%

ii) Counterparty default risk - derivative contracts

 The Plan is exposed to counterparty credit risk associated with the derivative contracts held in the pools. 
The maximum credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments is the fair value of all contracts with 
counterparties in a favourable position (see Note 4f). AIMCo is responsible for selecting and monitoring 
derivative counterparties on behalf of the Plan. AIMCo monitors counterparty risk exposures and actively 
seeks to mitigate counterparty risk by requiring that counterparties collateralize mark-to-market gains  
for the Plan.

 Provisions are in place to allow for termination of the contract should there be a material downgrade in a 
counterparty’s credit rating. The exposure to credit risk on derivatives is reduced by entering into master 
netting agreements and collateral agreements with counterparties. To the extent that any unfavourable 
contracts with the counterparty are not settled, they reduce the Plan’s net exposure in respect of favourable 
contracts with the same counterparty.
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NOTE 4 – INVESTMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

iii)  Security lending risk

 To generate additional income, the pools participate in a securities-lending program. Under this program, the 
custodian may lend investments held in the pools to eligible third parties for short periods. At December 31, 
2021, the Plan’s share of securities loaned under this program is $210,991 (2020: $131,034) and collateral 
held totals $230,508 (2020: $140,610). Securities borrowers are required to provide the collateral to assure 
the performance of redelivery obligations. Collateral may take the form of cash, other investments, bankers’ 
acceptances and bankers’ deposit notes. All collateralization, by the borrower, must be in excess of 100% of 
investments loaned.

b)  Foreign Currency Risk

 The Plan is exposed to foreign currency risk associated with the underlying securities held in the pools that are 
denominated in currencies other than the Canadian dollar. Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or 
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The fair 
values of investments denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars using the reporting 
date exchange rate. As a result, fluctuations in the relative value of the Canadian dollar against these foreign 
currencies can result in a positive or negative effect on the fair value of investments. Approximately 38% (2020: 
40%) of the Plan’s investments, or $1,585,334 (2020: $1,426,748), are denominated in currencies other than the 
Canadian dollar, with the largest foreign currency exposure being to the US dollar, 23% (2020: 22%) and the Euro, 
4% (2020: 5%).

 If the value of the Canadian dollar increased by 10% against all other currencies, and all other variables are held 
constant, the potential loss to the Plan would be approximately 3.8% (2020: 4.0%).

 The following table summarizes the Plan’s exposure to foreign currency investments held in pooled investment 
funds at December 31, 2021:

($ thousands) 2021 2020

Currency* Fair Value Sensitivity Fair Value Sensitivity

U.S. dollar $ 963,562 $ (96,356) $ 785,013 $ (78,502)

Euro 175,120 (17,512)) 171,265 (17,127)

Japanese yen 99,062 (9,906) 104,140 (10,414)

British pound 95,762 (9,576) 100,103 (10,010)

Other foreign currency 251,828 (25,183) 266,227 (26,622)

Total foreign currency investments $ 1,585,334 $ (158,533) $ 1,426,748 $ (142,675)

* Information on specific currencies is disclosed when the current year fair value is greater than 1% of the Plan’s net assets.
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NOTE 4 – INVESTMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c)  Interest Rate Risk

 The Plan is exposed to interest rate risk associated with the underlying interest-bearing securities held in the 
pools managed by AIMCo. Interest rate risk relates to the possibility that the investments will change in value 
due to future fluctuations in market interest rates. In general, investment returns from bonds and mortgages 
are sensitive to changes in the level of interest rates, with longer-term interest-bearing securities being more 
sensitive to interest rate changes than shorter-term bonds. If interest rates increased by 1%, and all other 
variables are held constant, the potential loss in fair value to the Plan would be approximately 3.3% (2020: 3.3%).

d)  Price Risk

 Price risk relates to the possibility that equity investments will change in value due to future fluctuations in 
market prices caused by factors specific to an individual equity investment or other factors affecting all equities 
traded in the market. The Plan is exposed to price risk associated with the underlying equity investments 
held in pools managed by AIMCo. If equity market indices (S&P/TSX, S&P500, S&P1500 and MSCI ACWI and 
their sectors) declined by 10%, and all other variables are held constant, the potential loss to the Plan would 
be approximately 5.9% (2020: 4.7%). Changes in fair value of investments are recognized in the statement of 
changes in net assets available for benefits.

e)  Liquidity Risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Plan will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities. Liquidity requirements of the Plan are met through income generated from investments, employee 
and employer contributions, and by investing in pools that hold publicly traded liquid assets traded in an active 
market that are easily sold and converted to cash. Units in pools that hold private investments like real estate, 
renewable, infrastructure and private equities are less easily converted to cash since the underlying securities 
are illiquid because they take more time to sell. These sources of cash are used to pay pension benefits and 
operating expenses, purchase new investments, settle derivative transactions with counterparties and margin 
calls on futures contracts. The Plan’s future liabilities include the accrued pension benefits obligation and 
exposure to net payables to counterparties (Note 4f).
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f)  Use of Derivative Financial Instruments in Pooled Investment Funds

 The Plan has indirect exposure to derivative financial instruments through its investment in units of the pools. 
AIMCo uses derivative financial instruments to cost effectively gain access to equity markets in the pools, 
manage asset exposure within the pools, enhance pool returns and manage interest rate risk, foreign currency 
risk and credit risk in the pools.

Plan's Indirect Share 
($ thousands)

By counterparty
Number of 

counterparties 2021 2020

Contracts in net favourable position  
(current credit exposure) 153 $ 49,207 $ 63,003

Contracts in net unfavourable position 16 (27,979) (20,028)

Net fair value of derivative contracts 169 $ 21,228 $ 42,975

i. Current credit exposure: The current credit exposure is limited to the amount of loss that would occur if all 
counterparties to contracts in a net favourable position totaling $49,207 (2020: $63,003) were to default  
at once.

ii.  Cash settlements: Receivables or payables with counterparties are usually settled in cash every  
three months.

iii.  Contract notional amounts: The fair value of receivables (receive leg) and payables (pay leg) and the 
exchange of cash flows with counterparties in pooled funds are based on a rate or price applied to a 
notional amount specified in the derivative contract. The notional amount itself is not invested, received 
or exchanged with the counterparty and is not indicative of the credit risk associated with the contract. 
Notional amounts are not assets or liabilities and do not change the asset mix reported in Note 3. 
Accordingly, there is no accounting policy for their recognition in the statement of financial position.
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NOTE 4 – INVESTMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Plan's Indirect Share 
($ thousands)

Types of derivatives used in pools 2021 2020

Equity-based derivatives $ 19,071 $ 28,618

Foreign currency derivatives 1,244 13,341

Interest rate derivatives (449) 101

Credit risk derivatives 1,362 915

Net fair value of derivative contracts $ 21,228 $ 42,975

i.  Equity derivatives are structured to receive income from counterparties based on the performance of a 
specified market-based equity index, security or basket of equity securities applied to a notional amount in 
exchange for floating rate interest paid to the counterparty. Floating rate notes are held in equity pools to 
provide floating rate interest to support the pay leg of the equity derivatives. Rights, warrants, futures and 
options are also included as structured equity replication derivatives.

ii.  Foreign currency derivatives include contractual agreements to exchange specified currencies at an agreed 
upon exchange rate and on an agreed settlement date in the future.

iii.  Interest rate derivatives exchange interest rate cash flows (fixed to floating or floating to fixed) based on a 
notional amount. Interest rate derivatives primarily include interest rate swaps and cross currency interest 
rate swaps, futures contracts and options.

iv.  Credit risk derivatives include credit default swaps allowing the pools to buy and sell protection on credit 
risk inherent in a bond. A premium is paid or received, based on a notional amount in exchange for a 
contingent payment should a defined credit event occur with respect to the underlying security.

v.  At December 31, 2021, deposits in futures contracts margin accounts totaled $11,156 (2020: $13,421). 
Cash and non-cash collateral for derivative contracts pledged and received, respectively, totaled $40,083 
(2020: ($31,913)) and $Nil (2020: $Nil).
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NOTE 5 – PENSION OBLIGATION

a)  Actuarial Valuation and Extrapolation Assumptions 

 An actuarial valuation of the Plan was carried out as at December 31, 2019 by Mercer and was then extrapolated 
by Aon to December 31, 2021.

 The actuarial assumptions used in determining the value of the liability for accrued benefits of $3,741,886 
(2020: $3,583,002) reflect management’s best estimate, as at the measurement date, of future economic 
events and involve both economic and non-economic assumptions. The non-economic assumptions include 
considerations such as mortality as well as withdrawal and retirement rates. The primary economic assumptions 
include the discount rate, inflation rate and salary escalation rate. The discount rate is determined by taking the 
plan specific asset allocation and applying the expected long-term asset returns determined by independently 
developed investment model, less expected plan investment expenses, and an additive for diversification and 
rebalancing. It does not assume a return for active management beyond the passive benchmark.

 The major assumptions used for accounting purposes were:

(%) 2021 2020

Discount rate 5.20 5.20

Inflation rate 2.00 2.00

Salary escalation rate* 1.50-2.75** 1.50 – 2.75**

Mortality rate 2014 Canadian Pension 
Mortality Table (Public Sector)

* In addition to age specific merit and promotion increase assumptions.

** 1.50% per annum for 5 years from December 31, 2019 and 2.75% per annum thereafter.

 In 2021, there were no actuarial assumption changes. In 2020, net loss due to actuarial assumption changes  
of $171,065 primarily resulted from decreases in the discount rate.

 An actuarial valuation of the Plan will be performed at least triennially. Any differences between the  
actuarial valuation results and extrapolation results as reported in these financial statements will affect the 
financial position of the Plan and will be accounted for as gains or losses in the subsequent year the valuation  
is performed.
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NOTE 5 – PENSION OBLIGATION (continued)

b)  Net Experience Gain (Loss)

 Net experience gain of $10,293 (2020: $6,845 loss) arose from actual experience deviating from expected.

c)  Plan Provision Changes

 In 2021, there was no net gain or loss from changes in plan provisions.

 In 2020, net gain of $1,900 mainly reflect the following changes in plan provisions effective April 1, 2020:

 •  Removal of the existing 50% excess employee contribution test and introduction of a 100% excess  
 employee contribution test as required by the Employment Pension Plans Act

 •  Vesting period change from 5 years of pensionable service to 2 years of pensionable service

 The amendment effective April 1, 2020 changed the Plan provisions to adopt the going concern funding basis 
assumptions for the calculation of commuted values. This change had no significant impact on the liability 
extrapolations done at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021.

d)  Sensitivity of Changes in Major Assumptions

 The Plan’s future experience will differ, perhaps significantly, from the assumptions used in the actuarial 
valuation and extrapolation. Any differences between the actuarial assumptions and future experience will 
emerge as gains or losses in future valuations and will affect the financial position of the Plan.

 The following is a summary of the sensitivities of the Plan’s deficiency and current service cost to changes in 
assumptions used in the actuarial extrapolation at December 31, 2021:

($ thousands)
Changes in 

Assumptions %
Increase in Plan 

Deficiency $

Increase in 
Current Service 
Cost as a % of 
Pensionable 
Earnings(1)

Inflation rate increase holding discount rate and salary 
escalation assumptions constant 1% 209,424 1.0%

Salary escalation rate increase holding inflation rate and 
discount rate assumptions constant 1% 162,263 2.6%

Discount rate decrease holding inflation rate and salary 
escalation assumptions constant (1%) 673,240 6.7%

(1)  The current service cost as a percentage of pensionable earnings as determined by the December 31, 2021 extrapolation was 23.63%.
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NOTE 6 – SURPLUS (DEFICIT)

In accordance with the requirements of the Joint Governance of Public Sector Pension Plans Act, a separate accounting 
is required of the pension obligation and deficiency with respect to service that was recognized as pensionable as at 
December 31, 1991.

2021 2020

($ thousands) Pre-1992 Post-1991 Total Pre-1992 Post-1991 Total

(Deficit) Surplus at 
beginning of year $ (177,989) $ 187,730 $ 9,741 $ (180,052) $ 364,683 $ 184,631

Increase in Plan Fund 
net assets available  
for benefits

44,405 528,902 573,307 11,595 126,771 138,366

Net decrease (increase) 
in pension obligation 20,708 (179,592) (158,884) (9,532) (303,724) (313,256)

(Deficit) Surplus at end 
of year $ (112,876) $ 537,040 $ 424,164 $ (177,989) $ 187,730 $ 9,741

2021 2020

($ thousands) Pre-1992 Post-1991 Total Pre-1992 Post-1991 Total

Net assets available for 
benefits at beginning 
of year

$ 602,458 $ 2,990,285 $ 3,592,743 $ 590,863 $ 2,863,514 $ 3,454,377

Increase in Plan net 
assets available for 
benefits

44,405 528,902 573,307 11,595 126,771 138,366

Net assets available for 
benefits at end of year $ 646,863 $ 3,519,187 $ 4,166,050 $ 602,458 $ 2,990,285 $ 3,592,743

This Plan deficiency is for accounting purposes and may differ from the Plan Fund deficiency for funding purposes 
(Note 14).
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NOTE 7 – CONTRIBUTIONS

($ thousands) 2021 2020

Employers

Current Service $ 68,366 $ 65,275

Past Service 257 187

Unfunded liability 5,918 8,863

$ 74,541 $ 74,325

Employees

Current Service 62,734 59,666

Past Service 1,667 1,980

Unfunded liability 5,918 8,863

$ 70,319 $ 70,509

Province of Alberta

Unfunded liability 6,378 6,595

$ 6,378 $ 6,595

$ 151,238 $ 151,429
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NOTE 8 – INVESTMENT INCOME 

The following is a summary of the Plan’s investment income (loss) by asset class:

($ thousands) Income
Change in 
Fair Value 2021 Total Income

Change in 
Fair Value 2020 Total

Interest-bearing 
securities $ 44,451 $ (66,115) $ (21,664) $ 73,042 $ 24,747 $ 97,789

Equities

Canadian 83,709 23,546 107,255 658 9,513 10,171

Foreign 253,957 54,417 308,374 56,671 30,410 87,081

Private 29,672 66,351 96,023 13,444 6,102 19,546

367,338 144,314 511,652 70,773 46,025 116,798

Inflation Sensitive

Real estate 5,359 49,068 54,427 8,246 (52,750) (44,504)

Real return bonds 8,969 (6,413) 2,556 3,792 13,909 17,701

Infrastructure 20,096 21,526 41,622 2,798 (15,322) (12,524)

Renewables 4,291 4,869 9,160 4,563 (8,304) (3,741)

38,715 69,050 107,765 19,399 (62,467) (43,068)

Strategic, tactical and  
currency investments 4,287 (5,573) (1,286) 6,206 (6,691) (485)

$ 454,791 $ 141,676 $ 596,467 $ 169,420 $ 1,614 $ 171,034

The change in fair value includes realized and unrealized gains and losses on pool units and currency hedges.  
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on pool units total $27,531 and $114,331 respectively (2020: $29,587  
and $(28,450) respectively). Realized and unrealized losses and gains on currency hedges total $(232) and  
$46 respectively (2020: $413 and $64 respectively).

Income earned in pooled investment funds is distributed to the Plan daily based on the Plan’s pro rata share of units 
issued by the pool. Income earned by the pools is determined on an accrual basis and includes interest, dividends, 
security lending income, realized gains and losses on sale of securities determined on an average cost basis and 
income and expense on derivative contracts. Interest income earned on Consolidated Cash Investment Trust Fund 
(CCITF) balance is included in income.
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NOTE 9 – INVESTMENT RETURNS, CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AND PENSION OBLIGATION

The following is a summary of investment returns (losses), and the annual change in net assets compared to the 
annual change in the pension obligation and the per cent of pension obligation supported by net assets:

(in per cent) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Increase (decrease) in net assets attributed to: 
Investment income

Policy benchmark return on investments 9.7 10.2 14.3 (0.1) 9.6

Value added (lost) by the investment manager 5.9 (5.7) (0.8) 0.6 1.3

Time weighted rate of return, at fair value (a) 15.6 4.5 13.5 0.5 10.9

Other sources (b) 0.4 (0.5) 0.6 0.4 0.6

Per cent change in net assets (c) 16.0 4.0 14.1 0.9 11.5

Per cent change in pension obligation (c) 4.4 9.6 1.6 9.9 4.6

Per cent of pension obligation supported  
by net assets 111 100 106 94 102

(a)  All investment returns are provided by AIMCo and are net of investment expenses. The annualized total return and policy benchmark return 
(PBR) on investments over five years is 8.9% (PBR: 8.7%), ten years is 9.9% (PBR: 9.2%) and twenty years is 7.4% (PBR: 7.0%). The Plan’s actuary 
estimates the long-term net investment returns on assets for funding purposes to be 4.95% (2020: 4.95%)

(b)  Other sources include employee and employer contributions and transfers from other plans, net of benefit payments, transfers to other plans 
and administration expenses.

(c)  The percentage change in net assets and the pension obligation is based on the amounts reported on the statement of changes in net assets 
available for benefits and the statement of changes in pension obligation.

NOTE 10 – BENEFIT PAYMENTS

($ thousands) 2021 2020

Retirement benefits $ 125,540 $ 119,536

Disability pensions 336 322

Termination benefits 10,363 39,214

Death benefits 1,696 2,387

$ 137,935 $ 161,459

SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021
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SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021

NOTE 11 – INVESTMENT EXPENSES

($ thousands) 2021 2020

Amount charged by AIMCo for:

Investment costs (a) $ 14,882 $ 12,929

Performance-based fees (a) 18,155 4,309

Goods and services tax 1,175 620

Total investment expenses $ 34,212 $ 17,858

Increase (decrease) in expenses (a) 91.6% (13.0%)

Increase in average investments under management 10.2% 8.7%

Increase (decrease) in value of investments attributed to AIMCo 5.9% (5.7%)

Expenses as a percent of dollar invested 0.9% 0.5%

Investment expenses per member (in dollars) $ 4,460 $ 2,369

(a)  Investment expenses are charged by AIMCo on a cost-recovery basis. Please refer to AIMCo’s financial statements for a more detailed 
breakdown of the types of expenses incurred by AIMCo. Amounts recovered by the investment manager for investment costs include those 
costs that are primarily non-performance related, including external management fees, external administration costs, employee salaries and 
incentive benefits and overhead costs. Amounts recovered by AIMCo for performance-based fees relate to external managers hired by AIMCo.

NOTE 12 – ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

($ thousands) 2021 2020

Pension administration costs

Alberta Pensions Services Corporation (APS) $ 1,322 $ 1,634

SFPP Corporation 2,018 1,966

Goods and services tax and other 112 126

3,452 3,726

Expenses per member (in dollars) $ 450 $ 494

Pension administration costs were paid to APS and SFPP Corporation on a cost-recovery basis.

Goods and service tax reflects the amount not eligible for rebate under the Excise Tax Act.



Special Forces Pension Plan Annual Report 202160

SPECIAL FORCES PENSION PLAN  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2021

NOTE 13 – TOTAL PLAN EXPENSES

Total Plan Expenses comprise investment expenses per Note 11 and administrative expenses per Note 12 of 
$37,664 (2020: $21,584) or $ 4,910 (2020: $2,863) per member and 0.90% (2020: 0.60%) of net assets  
under administration.

NOTE 14 – CAPITAL

The Plan defines its capital as the funded status. The actuarial surplus or deficit is determined by an actuarial funding 
valuation performed, at a minimum, every three years. The objective is to ensure that the Plan is fully funded over 
the long term through the management of investments, contribution rates and benefits. Investments, the use of 
derivatives and leverage are based on an asset mix and risk policies and procedures that are designed to enable 
the Plan to meet or exceed its long-term funding requirement within an acceptable level of risk, consistent with the 
Plan’s SIPP approved by the Board.

The Plan’s asset values are determined on the fair value basis for accounting purposes. However, for funding 
valuation purposes, asset values are adjusted for fluctuations in fair values to moderate the effect of market volatility 
on the Plan’s funded status. Actuarial asset values for funding valuation purposes amounted to $3,915,772 at 
December 31, 2021 (2020: $3,520,177), comprising of $606,770 (2020: $588,844) Pre-1992 and $3,309,002 
(2020: $2,931,333) Post-1991.

The unfunded liability for post-1991 service as determined by actuarial funding valuation is financed by a special 
payment currently totaling 0.82% (2020: 1.86%) of pensionable salary shared equally between employees and 
employers. The special payment is included in the rates in effect at December 31, 2021 (see Note 1b).

NOTE 15 – RESPONSIBILITY OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved by the Corporate Board of Directors of the SFPP Corporation based on 
information provided by SFPP Corporation, APS, AIMCo and the Plan’s actuary.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the SFPP Corporation Board of Directors

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION
I have audited the financial statements of SFPP Corporation, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2021, and the statements of operations, change in net debt, and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SFPP 
Corporation as at December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations, its changes in net debt, and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

BASIS FOR OPINION
I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. 
I am independent of SFPP Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the 
financial statements in Canada, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I 
believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual 
Report, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be 
made available to me after the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work I will perform on this other information, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing SFPP Corporation’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless an intention exists to liquidate or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing SFPP Corporation’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of SFPP Corporation’s 
internal control.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the  
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on SFPP Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists,  
I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause SFPP Corporation to cease to continue  
as a going concern

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,  
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves  
fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

[Original signed by W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D] 
Auditor General

June 7, 2022 
Edmonton, Alberta
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SFPP CORPORATION 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at December 31, 2021

(in thousands) 2021 2020

Financial assets

Cash $ 157 $ 187

Accounts recievable - 48

157 235

Liabilities

Due to Special Forces Pension Plan (Note 6) 111 177

Due to Alberta Pensions Services Corporation (Note 7) 18 11

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 74 108

Accrued salaries and benefits 10 22

Deferred lease inducement (Note 9) 81 91

294 409

Net Debt (137) (174)

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 136 167

Prepaid expenses 56 83

192 250

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 55 76

Spent deferred capital contributions (Note 8) 55 76

Net assets $ - $ -

Contractual obligations (Note 9)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board:

Original signed by 

Denis Jubinville 
Chair, Corporate Board

Approved by Management:

Original signed by 

Liz Doughty 
Chief Executive Officer
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SFPP CORPORATION  
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
Year ended December 31, 2021

2021 2020

(in thousands) Budget Actual Actual

Expenses

Salaries and benefits $ 1,000 $ 958 $ 928

Contract services 547 597 619

General and administrative 446 409 374

Amortization (Note 8) 22 31 26

Corporate board 97 24 17

Sponsor board 54 - 4

Total operating costs 2,166 2,019 1,968

Recovery of costs

Recovery from the SFPP 2,166 2,018 1,966

Interest income - 1 2

Recovery of costs from the SFPP (Note 6) 2,166 2,019 1,968

Annual surplus (deficit) - - -

Net assets at beginning of year - - -

Net assets at end of year $ - $ - $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SFPP CORPORATION  
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET DEBT 
Year ended December 31, 2021

2021 2020

(in thousands) Budget Actual Actual

Annual surplus (deficit) $ - $ - $ -

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (Note 8) - - (131)

Amortization of tangible capital assets (Note 8) 22 31 26

Change in spent deferred capital contributions (22) (21) 14

Change in prepaid expenses - 37 (57)

(Increase) Decrease in net debt - 37 (148)

Net debt at beginning of year (174) (174) (26)

Net debt at end of year $ (174) $ (137) $ (174)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SFPP CORPORATION 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Year ended December 31, 2021

(in thousands) 2021 2020

Operating transactions

Annual surplus (deficit) $ - $ -

Non-cash items included in annual surplus (deficit)

Increase in deferred lease inducement (Note 9) - 99

Acquisition of leasehold improvements as a deferred lease inducement (Note 8) - (99)

Amortization of tangible capital assets (Note 8) 31 26

Amortization of spent deferred capital contributions (21) (18)

Amortization of deferred lease inducement (Note 9) (10) (8)

- -

Decrease (Increase) in accounts receivable 48 (48)

Decrease (Increase) in prepaid expenses 27 (57)

Decrease in due from Special Forces Pension Plan (Note 6) - 327

(Decrease) Increase in due to Special Forces Pension Plan (Note 6) (66) 177

Increase (Decrease) in due to Alberta Pensions Services Corporation (Note 7) 7 (125)

Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (34) (114)

(Decrease) Increase in accrued salaries and benefits (12) 5

Cash (applied to) provided by operating transactions (30) 165

Capital transactions

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (Note 8) - (32)

Cash applied to capital transactions - (32)

Financing transactions

Increase in spent deferred capital contributions (Note 8) - 32

Cash provided by financing transactions - 32

(Decrease) Increase in cash (30) 165

Cash at beginning of year 187 22

Cash at end of year $ 157 $ 187

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SFPP CORPORATION  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021

NOTE 1 – AUTHORITY

SFPP Corporation (Corporation) is a “Provincial Corporation” established on December 11, 2018 by the Joint 
Governance of Public Sector Pension Plans Act (Alberta) (Joint Governance Act). The Corporation operates under 
the authority of the Financial Administration Act (Alberta), Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act, and the Reform of 
Agencies, Boards and Commissions Compensation Act.

NOTE 2 – NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Corporation is the trustee and administrator of the Special Forces Pension Plan (SFPP). SFPP is registered under 
the Employment Pension Plans Act (Alberta) (EPPA). The functions of the Corporation include supporting the SFPP 
Sponsor Board in performing its statutory functions under the Joint Governance Act.

NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards.

Recovery of costs

All recoveries of costs are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Accruals for recovery of costs are recognized 
as the related expenses are incurred.

Expenses

Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed and services received during the  
year are expensed.
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Valuation of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is the amount of consideration agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable,  
willing parties who are under no compulsion to act.

The Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows:

Financial statement component 
Cash 
Accounts receivable 
Due to/from pension plan  
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, 
and accrued salaries and benefits

Measurement 
Cost 
Lower of cost or net recoverable value 
Lower of cost or net recoverable value

Cost

Financial assets

Financial assets are assets that could be used to discharge existing liabilities or finance future operations and  
are not for consumption in the normal course of operations.

Financial assets are the Corporation’s financial claims on external organizations and individuals.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid, investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term commitments rather than for investment purposes.

Accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable are recognized at the lower of cost or net recoverable value. A valuation allowance is recognized 
when recovery is uncertain.

Due to/from pension plan 
Amounts due to/from pension plan are recognized at the lower of cost or net recoverable value. A valuation 
allowance is recognized when recovery is uncertain.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations of the Corporation to external organizations and individuals arising from past 
transactions or events occurring before the year end, the settlement of which is expected to result in the future 
sacrifice of economic benefits. They are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and 
management can reasonably estimate the amounts.

SFPP CORPORATION  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021
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NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are acquired, constructed, or developed assets that do not normally provide resources to 
discharge existing liabilities, but instead:

(a)  are normally employed to deliver services;
(b)  may be consumed in the normal course of operations; and
(c)   are not for sale in the normal course of operations.

Non-financial assets are limited to tangible capital assets and prepaid expenses.

Tangible capital assets 
Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization, which includes amounts that are 
directly related to the acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets.

The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight- line basis over 
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer hardware and software  3 years 
Furniture and equipment   5 years 
Leasehold improvements   Lease term

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the Corporation’s 
ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated with the tangible 
capital assets are less than their net book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the 
Statement of Operations.

Prepaid expenses 
Prepaid expenses are recognized at cost and amortized based on the terms of the agreement.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments of the Corporation consist of cash, accounts receivable, due from/to pension plan, due from/
to Alberta Pensions Services Corporation, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and accrued salaries and benefits. 
Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of these instruments approximates their fair value.

As the Corporation does not have any transactions involving financial instruments that are classified in the fair value 
category, there are no remeasurement gains and losses and therefore, a statement of remeasurement gains and 
losses has not been presented.

SFPP CORPORATION  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021
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NOTE 4 – FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES

The Public Sector Accounting Board has issued the following accounting updates:

•  PS 3280 Asset Retirement Obligations (effective April 1, 2022) 
 This standard provides guidance on how to account for and report liabilities for retirement of tangible  
 capital assets.

•  PS 3400 Revenue (effective April 1, 2023) 
 This standard provides guidance on how to account for and report on revenue, and specifically, it differentiates  
 between revenue arising from exchange transactions and non-exchange transactions.

•  PSG 8 Purchased Intangibles (effective April 1, 2023) 
 This guideline allows recognition in financial statements of intangibles purchased through an arm’s length  
 exchange transaction and meeting the definition of an asset.

The Corporation has not yet adopted these standards. Management is currently assessing the impact of these 
standards on the financial statements.

NOTE 5 – BUDGET

The Corporation’s 2021 budget was approved by the Corporation’s Board of Directors.

NOTE 6 – RECOVERY OF COSTS (in thousands)

The Corporation charges the SFPP for its operating costs, as authorized by the Joint Governance Act.

At December 31, 2021, $111 (2020 – $177) is payable to the SFPP. The payable at year end is directly related to the 
timing of the disbursement of funds.

NOTE 7 – DUE TO ALBERTA PENSIONS SERVICES CORPORATION (in thousands)

In addition to plan administration services, Alberta Pensions Services Corporation also provides a limited number 
of corporate services to the Corporation. The balance of these services at the end of December 31, 2021 was $18 
(2020 - $11). The payable at year end is directly related to the timing of the disbursement of funds.

SFPP CORPORATION  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021
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NOTE 8 – TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (in thousands)

Computer 
Hardware and 

Software
Furniture and 

Equipment
Leasehold 

improvements 2021 Total 2020 Total

Estimated useful life 3 Years 5 Years Lease term

Historical Cost

Beginning of year $ 41 $ 22 $ 131 $ 194 $ 63

Additions - - - - 131

Disposals, including write-
downs - - - - -

41 22 131 194 194

Accumulated Amortization

Beginning of year 12 4 11 27 1

Amortization expense 14 4 13 31 26

Effect of disposals - - - - -

26 8 24 58 27

Net Book Value $ 15 $ 14 $ 107 $ 136 $ 167

In 2020, additions include $99 of leasehold improvements received during the year as part of the Corporation’s  
office lease agreement.

Financing for additions was obtained from the SFPP and is recognized as spent deferred capital contributions.  
The recovery of costs is recognized on the same basis as the tangible capital assets are amortized.

SFPP CORPORATION  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021
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NOTE 9 – CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS (in thousands)

Contractual obligations are obligations of the Corporation to others that will become liabilities in the future  
when the terms of those contracts or agreements are met.

The Corporation has service agreements for administration of the plan benefits, and investment and  
management of the plan’s assets with Alberta Pensions Services Corporation and Alberta Investment  
Management Corporation, respectively.

In 2020, the Corporation entered into a 10-year lease agreement for office space and services. The minimum  
annual commitments are as follows:

Operating

2022 $ 142

2023 145

2024 148

2025 155

2026 156

Thereafter 493

$ 1,239

The minimum annual commitment includes basic rent and an estimate for operating cost recoveries. Operating cost 
recoveries will be adjusted for actual costs during the year.

As part of the lease agreement, the Corporation received leasehold improvements of $99 as a lease inducement. This 
inducement is recognized as a reduction in lease expense over the 10-year term of the lease.

NOTE 10 – TRUST FUNDS UNDER ADMINISTRATION (in thousands)

The Corporation administers trust funds in the SFPP on behalf of the beneficiaries in accordance with the EPPA.

These amounts are held on behalf of others with no power of appropriation and therefore are not reported in these 
financial statements. At December 31, 2021, trust funds under administration by the Corporation were $4,166,050 
(2020 - $3,592,743).

SFPP CORPORATION  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021
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NOTE 11 – SALARIES AND BENEFITS DISCLOSURE (in thousands)

The table below provides complete disclosure of salary, vacation and personal leave payout, employer portion of 
pension contributions and all other compensation paid during the year ended December 31, 2021 to the Chief 
Executive Officer and Executive Directors.

Position Base salary(1)
Other cash 
benefits(2)

Other non-cash 
benefits(3) 2021 Total 2020 Total

Chief Executive Officer 162 25 46 233 226

Executive Director Finance and 
Risk 137 12 33 182 188

Executive Director Policy and 
Communications4 90 6 22 118 180

(1)  Base salary includes regular salary.

(2)  Other cash benefits include current year vacation and current year end payout of personal leave.

(3)  Other non-cash benefits includes the Corporation’s share of contributions to the pension plans based on each individual’s pensionable salary. 
Also included are payments made on employees’ behalf including health care, dental coverage, group life insurance, long-term disability 
insurance, professional memberships and education resulting in certification.

(4)  Executive Director Policy and Communications left the Corporation on August 27, 2021. This position was vacant at December 31, 2021.

Board remuneration (in thousands)

The Board Chair position received remuneration of $5 (2020: $6). Five other board members received a combined 
total remuneration of $10 (2020: $9). The remuneration is paid in accordance with the rates approved by the Sponsor 
Board and is subject to applicable withholdings.

SFPP CORPORATION  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021
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NOTE 12 – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (in thousands)

The Corporation participates in two multi-employer defined benefit public sector pension plans, the Management 
Employees Pension Plan and the Public Service Pension Plan. The Corporation also participates in the multi-
employer Supplementary Retirement Plan for Public Service Managers (SRP). The expense for these pension plans is 
equivalent to the contributions of $81 (2020 - $102) for the year ended December 31, 2021. This amount is included 
in salaries and benefits.

An actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of the plan funding.  
At December 31, 2020, PSPP reported a surplus of $2,223,582 (2019 - surplus of $2,759,320), MEPP reported  
a surplus of $809,850 (2019 - surplus of $1,008,135) and SRP had a deficiency of $59,972 (2019 - deficiency  
of $44,698).

NOTE 13 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liquidity risk is the risk of not being able to meet the Corporation’s cash requirements in a timely and cost-effective 
manner. The Corporation’s only source of liquidity is amounts charged to the SFPP (Note 6).

It is management’s opinion that the Corporation is not exposed to any risk arising from this financial instrument.

NOTE 14 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (in thousands)

Related parties include the Government of Alberta, SFPP and key management personnel, close family members of 
those individuals, and entities that those individuals or their close family members may have significant control over.

All related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and consist of the recovery of the Corporations 
operating expenses and tangible assets as disclosed in the financial statements.

Related party transactions also include the purchase of risk management insurance from the Government of Alberta 
of which $9 (2020 - $10) is included in Prepaid expenses and $38 (2020 - $28) in General and administrative 
expenses. The Corporation is also required to file an annual information return for SFPP with the Government of 
Alberta, of which $15 (2020 - $19) is included in Contract services expenses.

NOTE 14 – APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation’s Board of Directors approved the financial statements on June 7, 2022.

SFPP CORPORATION  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021



MANAGEMENT OF THE PLAN
SFPP Corporation 

2000 College Plaza 
8215 112 Street NW 

Edmonton, AB T6G 2C8

MEMBERSHIP OR PENSION INQUIRIES
c/o Alberta Pensions Services Corporation 

5103 Windermere Boulevard SW 
Edmonton, AB T6W 0S9

1-877-809-7377
memberservices@sfpp.ca


